

# Hexagonal Close-Packed (HCP) Crystallography, Diffraction, and Indexing Conventions

by Wendy L Sarney

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

### NOTICES

## Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.





# Hexagonal Close-Packed (HCP) Crystallography, Diffraction, and Indexing Conventions

Wendy L Sarney Sensors and Electron Devices Directorate, DEVCOM Army Research Laboratory

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

					_
REPORT DOCUMENTATION P			N PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden data needed, and comple burden, to Department o Respondents should be a valid OMB control num <b>PLEASE DO NOT</b>	for this collection of informat eting and reviewing the collect of Defense, Washington Headd aware that notwithstanding an ber. <b>RETURN YOUR FORM</b>	ion is estimated to average 1 ho tion information. Send commen quarters Services, Directorate fo y other provision of law, no per: M TO THE ABOVE ADD	ur per response, including th ts regarding this burden estin r Information Operations and son shall be subject to any pe <b>RESS.</b>	e time for reviewing in nate or any other aspe d Reports (0704-0188) enalty for failing to co	nstructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the ct of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the ), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. mply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently
1. REPORT DATE (	(DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
November 202	20	Technical Report			15 March–1 June 2020
4. TITLE AND SUB	TITLE				5a. CONTRACT NUMBER
Hexagonal Clo	ose-Packed (HCP)	Crystallography, E	Diffraction, and Ir	dexing	
Conventions					5b. GRANT NUMBER
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER
Wendy L Sarn	ey				
					5e. TASK NUMBER
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER
7. PERFORMING (	ORGANIZATION NAME	E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
DEVCOM Arr	my Research Labo	oratory			
ATTN: FCDD-RLS-EE					ARL-TR-9114
2800 Powder M	Mill Rd 20782 1182				
9. SPONSORING/I	MONITORING AGENC	Y NAME(S) AND ADDRE	SS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
			()		
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)
12. DISTRIBUTION	N/AVAILABILITY STATE	EMENT			
Approved for J	public release; dis	tribution is unlimite	ed.		
13. SUPPLEMENT	ARY NOTES				
ORCID ID(s):	Wendy L Sarney,	, 0000-0003-4024-1	186		
14. ABSTRACT					
This report det	tails the crystallog	raphy and diffraction	on pattern indexir	ng of hexagor	nal close-packed (HCP) crystals compared
with the more	familiar cubic clo	se-packed crystals.	HCP films are from	equently grov	vn and characterized at the US Army
Combat Capab	oilities Developme	ent Command Army	y Research Labor	atory, in parti	icular alloys of gallium nitride, indium
nitride, alumin	um nitride, and si	licon carbide. We d	liscuss the Miller	–Bravais inde	exing system, which relies on four indices
(HKIL), as opp	posed to the more	familiar three-inde	x (hkl) Miller sys	tem. Both sy	stems appear in the literature. Visualizing the
HCP system an	nd understanding	its indexed features	are much less in	tuitive than it	is for the cubic system. The purpose of this
describe these	allovs' characteri	their understanding	g of the interature	as a reference	e for correctly interpreting transmission
electron micro	scopy images and	diffraction patterns	5.	as a reference	e for correctly interpreting transmission
15. SUBJECT TERM	ЛS				
transmission e	lectron microscop	y, TEM, hexagonal	, nitrides, electro	n diffraction,	crystallography
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER OF	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
			ABSTRACT	PAGES	Wendy L Sarney
			UU	23	(201) 204 57(1
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified		_	(301) 394-5761

## Contents

List	st of Figures		iv
List	of Ta	bles	iv
1.	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Cubic System Basics	2
	1.2	HCP System Basics	4
2.	Inde	exing Systems	6
	2.1	Three-Index Miller System	6
	2.2	Four-Index Miller–Bravais System	7
3.	Imp	oortant Example: GaN	11
4.	Diff	raction Patterns	12
5.	Sum	nmary and Conclusions	14
6.	Ref	erences	15
List	of Sy	mbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms	16
Dist	ribut	ion List	17

## List of Figures

Fig. 1	Conventional unit cell and axes of an a) FCC crystal and b) hexagonal close-packed (HCP) crystal
Fig. 2	Primitive cell for the FCC lattice a) inscribed inside its conventional unit cell and b) on its own
Fig. 3	{100} family of planes and <100> family of directions
Fig. 4	Crystallographically equivalent and orthogonal <b>110</b> and ( <b>110</b> ) planes and corresponding directions
Fig. 5	Primitive HCP cell inscribed inside of a conventional unit cell
Fig. 6	a) Single (111) plane in FCC unit cell, tipped in b) so multiple (111) planes are seen. c) Crystallographically equivalent (001) HCP planes. 5
Fig. 7	Equivalent a) (111) FCC and b) (001) HCP planes
Fig. 8	a) a-b-a stacking in an HCP cell and b) a-b-c stacking in an FCC cell. 6
Fig. 9	a) Conventional HCP unit cell with its close-packed planes and directions labeled. b) A top-down view of the (001) plane
Fig. 10	a) [210] projection of the (100) HCP plane and b) [001] projection of the (001) HCP plane
Fig. 11	Defining the axes of the HCP system using Miller-Bravais notation 8
Fig. 12	Labeled Miller–Bravais planes and directions of the a) conventional HCP unit cell b) projected along [0001]
Fig. 13	Projections of a HCP crystal along a) the $[0001]$ direction with the $\{1010\}$ family of planes labeled, b) $[1010]$ , c) $[0001]$ with the $\{2110\}$ planes labeled, and d) $[2110]$ with the $(0001)$ and $(0110)$ planes labeled
Fig. 14	a) 3C GaN and b) 2H GaN11
Fig. 15	HCP diffraction pattern for the (a) <b>[2110]</b> , (b) <b>[0110]</b> , and (c) <b>0001</b> zone axes

## List of Tables

Table 1	Three- and four-index conversion for planes
Table 2	Three- and four-index conversion for directions 10

#### 1. Introduction

US Army Combat Capabilities Development Command (DEVCOM) Army Research Laboratory (ARL) researchers grow crystalline films in several molecular beam epitaxy chambers, as well as by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition, atomic layer deposition, and other evaporation techniques. There has been extensive work over the years in III-V semiconductor films, which crystallize in the face-centered cubic (FCC) lattice, usually with the zinc-blende structure. Figure 1a shows the conventional FCC unit cell. A prior technical report details the crystallography and indexing conventions for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) diffraction patterns and images of FCC materials.<sup>1</sup>



Fig. 1 Conventional unit cell and axes of an a) FCC crystal and b) hexagonal close-packed (HCP) crystal

The DEVCOM Army Research Laboratory also studies the III-Nitride (III-N) family of semiconductors, such as gallium nitride (GaN) and aluminum nitride, and their associated ternaries. Some of the alloys are polymorphic, but commonly crystallize in the wurtzite phase, which is a hexagonal close-packed (HCP) structure. Figure 1b shows the conventional HCP unit cell. We generated the crystal schematics for this report using the free VESTA web application.<sup>2</sup>

The crystallography and indexing conventions of the HCP system are less intuitive than for the FCC system, making the interpretation of TEM images and diffraction patterns more difficult. This note explains the HCP system and its nomenclature, to aid in the interpretation of TEM data collected at ARL and/or published in the literature.

#### 1.1 Cubic System Basics

We begin by briefly reviewing the cubic system, so that we can clearly demonstrate the HCP system's differences. Figure 1a and Eq. 1 describe the three orthogonal vectors as the defining axes of the conventional cubic unit cell.

$$\vec{a}_1 = a\hat{x} \quad \vec{a}_2 = a\hat{y} \quad \vec{a}_3 = a\hat{z} . \tag{1}$$

Sometimes books and papers describe crystals by their primitive cell, which is the smallest repeat unit that leaves no "empty space" and contains only one lattice point. Figure 2 shows the primitive cell of the FCC lattice a) inscribed within the conventional unit cell and b) on its own. The primitive lattice vectors for the FCC lattice (Eq. 2) describe a rhombohedral primitive cell, where *a* is the lattice constant as



Fig. 2 Primitive cell for the FCC lattice a) inscribed inside its conventional unit cell and b) on its own

Most researchers prefer to use the conventional unit cell, because it is more descriptive and it is easier to visualize the symmetry.

We apply the conventions of the three-dimensional Cartesian coordinate system to index the atomic positions, crystal directions, and planes. It is simple to use basic geometry and trigonometry to find distances between atomic positions and crystal planes, and define directions for dislocations and interfaces. Planes and directions that are crystallographically related have common but differently permutated indices. As shown in Fig. 3, the (100), (010), and (001) planes are all symmetric and equivalent, and are referred to collectively as the {100} family of planes. Likewise, <100> family of directions includes the symmetrically equivalent [100], [010], and [001] directions. Another benefit of this coordinate and indexing scheme

is that a crystal plane has the same indices as its normal. For example, the (001) plane, which is our usual substrate growth front, is perpendicular to the [001] direction. Similarly, the ( $\overline{1}10$ ) plane is perpendicular to the [ $\overline{1}10$ ] direction. The <110> directions are the most common TEM zone axes for cross-sectional FCC materials. Figure 4 shows the orthogonal ( $\overline{1}10$ ) and ( $1\overline{1}0$ ) planes and corresponding directions. As explained in a previous report,<sup>3</sup> it is good practice to prepare TEM samples with two pieces from orthogonal planes.



Fig. 3 {100} family of planes and <100> family of directions



Fig. 4 Crystallographically equivalent and orthogonal  $(1\overline{1}0)$  and  $(\overline{1}10)$  planes and corresponding directions

#### 1.2 HCP System Basics

Some elemental materials with the HCP structure are beryllium, magnesium, titanium, cobalt, zinc, and cadmium. HCP semiconductor alloys include the III-N family and also zinc sulfide, cadmium sulfide, and silicon carbide (SiC). Some compounds are polymorphic, meaning that they can crystallize in more than one phase depending on the growth conditions. Examples include GaN, which can crystallize in the 3C (cubic) structure or the 2H (HCP) structure, and SiC, which has over 150 known polytypes.

Figure 5 shows the primitive HCP cell inscribed within the conventional unit cell. The conventional cell includes more than the minimum number of atoms needed to represent a primitive cell, but it conveniently shows the six-fold symmetry of the lattice. The HCP structure's basis consists of two identical atoms, one at the origin and the other at  $(\frac{2}{3}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{2})$  when using three-index notation. Unlike the cubic system, the axes used to define the hexagonal lattice are not orthogonal. The two axes defining the basal plane,  $\vec{a}_1$  and  $\vec{a}_2$ , have a 120° orientation relationship and the third axis  $\vec{a}_3$  lies perpendicular to both  $\vec{a}_1$  and  $\vec{a}_2$ . The lattice constant along  $\vec{a}_1$  and  $\vec{a}_2$  is *a*, and along  $\vec{a}_3$  is *c*. The  $\vec{a}_3$  axis, elongated relative to the basal plane axes, has the relationship of  $\frac{c}{a} = \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}$  assuming a perfectly close-packed arrangement of spheres.



Fig. 5 Primitive HCP cell inscribed inside of a conventional unit cell

The (001) basal plane of the HCP structure and the (111) plane of the FCC structure are equivalent. The (111) FCC plane is shown in Fig. 6a. It is oriented slightly differently in Fig. 6b to show parallel  $\{111\}$  planes. Figure 6c shows the (001) HCP planes.



Fig. 6 a) Single (111) plane in FCC unit cell, tipped in b) so multiple (111) planes are seen. c) Crystallographically equivalent (001) HCP planes.

Figure 7 shows a) a (111) FCC plane and b) the (001) HCP plane with the spheres drawn to fill all possible empty space. We show the outline of the conventional unit cells as a guide to the eye. Both planes have the same symmetry with the spheres arranged so that each is in contact with six others. This arrangement maximizes the packing fraction, which is  $\approx 0.74$  for both unit cells.



Fig. 7 Equivalent a) (111) FCC and b) (001) HCP planes

The physical difference in the HCP and FCC structure has to do with the stacking of these closest-packed planes. In the FCC structure, the planes are stacked with the a-b-c pattern (Fig. 8a), while the HCP planes are stacked with the a-b-a-b pattern (Fig 8b).



Fig. 8 a) a-b-a stacking in an HCP cell and b) a-b-c stacking in an FCC cell

## 2. Indexing Systems

We used three-index notation, known as *Miller indices*, to describe the simple cubic and HCP crystal structures discussed in the prior sections. In this section, we compare this system to the four-index *Miller–Bravais indices*.

### 2.1 Three-Index Miller System

For simple cubic crystals, Miller indices are very convenient due to the crystal's high symmetry. The three axes are orthogonal, as discussed in Section 1.1. For instance, (hkl) planes are perpendicular to [hkl] directions. Simple dot and cross products of indices allow us to determine the orientation of the planes and lattice directions relative to one another and distances between planes.

For the HCP system, Miller indices are not as convenient. Because the basal plane axes are not perpendicular to one another (i.e.,  $\vec{a}_1$  and  $\vec{a}_2$  have a 120° orientation relationship) as described in Section 1.2, we cannot use simple dot and cross products of the indices to find orientation relationships or distances between planes. One complication of the HCP structure is that planes do not necessarily have the same indices as their normal. Figure 9a is a conventional HCP unit cell with its close-packed planes and directions labeled. Figure 9b is a top-down view of the (001) plane. The normal to (010) plane lies along the [120] direction, the normal to the (100) plane is [210], and the normal to the ( $\overline{110}$ ) plane is [ $\overline{120}$ ]. Only the (001) plane shares the same indices as its [001] normal.



Fig. 9 a) Conventional HCP unit cell with its close-packed planes and directions labeled. b) A top-down view of the (001) plane.

Another challenge is that we cannot determine symmetry relationships by looking at the plane or direction indices. For instance, the (100) and (010) planes are equivalent, which seems obvious, but both are also equivalent to the  $(1\overline{10})$  plane, which does not seem obvious. Meanwhile, the (001) and (100) planes are not equivalent at all. A close-packed schematic of the (100) plane is shown in Fig. 10a, which clearly is different from the arrangement of the (001) planes shown in Fig. 10b.



Fig. 10 a) [210] projection of the (100) HCP plane and b) [001] projection of the (001) HCP plane

#### 2.2 Four-Index Miller-Bravais System

Using the four-index Miller–Bravais system relieves some of the shortcomings of the three-index system for HCP materials. Shown schematically in Fig. 11, the "extra" axis lies in the basal plane, and all three basal axes are 120° from each other. The fourth axis is orthogonal to all three basal plane axes.



Fig. 11 Defining the axes of the HCP system using Miller-Bravais notation

Table 1 lists the conversion between the three-index (*hkl*) and four-index (*HKIL*) systems for common planes. The additional index I is dependent on H and K, as shown by the relationship in Eq. 3.

$$H + K + I = 0 (3)$$

(hkl)	(HKIL)
(001)	(0001)
(010)	$(01\overline{1}0)$
(100)	$(10\overline{1}0)$
$(1\overline{1}0)$	$(1\overline{1}00)$
$(2\overline{1}0)$	$(2\overline{1}\overline{1}0)$
(120)	$(\overline{1}2\overline{1}0)$
(110)	(1120)

 Table 1
 Three- and four-index conversion for planes

The extra index clarifies symmetry, because it allows families of planes and directions in the Miller–Bravais system have similar-looking indices, as shown in Fig. 12. For instance, the  $\{1\overline{1}00\}$  family includes the symmetric  $(01\overline{1}0)$ ,  $(0\overline{1}10)$ ,  $(10\overline{1}0)$ ,  $(1\overline{0}10)$ ,  $(1\overline{1}00)$ , and  $(\overline{1}100)$  planes. Using the four-index notation, HCP planes now have the same indices as their normal, as it was for the cubic system.



Fig. 12 Labeled Miller–Bravais planes and directions of the a) conventional HCP unit cell b) projected along [0001]

It is not as straightforward to convert directions between the Miller [hkl] and Miller–Bravais [HKIL] systems. In the Miller system for HCP crystals, any given vector can be written as

$$\vec{v} = h\vec{a}_1 + k\vec{a}_2 + l\vec{c}.$$
 (4)

Similarly, with the Miller-Bravais system, the same vector can be written as

$$\vec{v} = H\vec{a}_1 + K\vec{a}_2 + I\vec{a}_3 + L\vec{c} .$$
(5)

We can substitute the relationship

$$\vec{a}_1 + \vec{a}_2 = \vec{a}_3 \tag{6}$$

into Eq. 5 and obtain

$$\vec{v} = (H - I)\vec{a}_1 + (K - I)\vec{a}_2 + L\vec{c}.$$
(7)

Since

$$I = -(H + K), \tag{8}$$

we can rewrite Eq. 7 as

$$\vec{v} = (2H + K)\vec{a}_1 + (2K + H)\vec{a}_2 + L\vec{c}.$$
 (9)

Now we equate the coefficients in Eqs. 4 and 9 and obtain

$$h=2H+K \qquad k=2K+H \qquad l=L \qquad (10)$$

Solving in terms of *HKIL*,

$$H = \frac{1}{3}(2h - k) \qquad K = \frac{1}{3}(2k - h) \qquad I = -(H + K) \qquad L = l \quad (11)$$

Table 2 lists common HCP crystal directions in the three- and four-index notation.

[ <i>hkl</i> ]	[HKIL]
[001]	[0001]
[010]	$\frac{1}{3}[\overline{1}2\overline{1}0]$
[100]	$\frac{1}{3}[2\overline{1}\overline{1}0]$
[110]	$\frac{1}{3}[11\overline{2}0]$
[210]	$[10\overline{1}0]$
[120]	$[01\overline{1}0]$
[110]	[1100]

Table 2Three- and four-index conversion for directions

The  $\frac{1}{3} < 2\overline{1}\overline{1}0 >$  family of directions is often represented by removing the common denominator, becoming  $< 2\overline{1}\overline{1}0 >$ . While not obvious for permutations of *h*, *k*, and l indices, we can easily identify symmetrically equivalent directions by permutations of H, K, I, and L. The lowest-index planes are usually the most favorable for high-resolution TEM imaging. We typically prepare our samples with the [0001],  $< 2\overline{110} >$ , or  $< 01\overline{10} >$  family of zone axes, as shown in Fig. 13. These zone axes are orthogonal, and imaging more than one is often necessary to identify dislocations. The (0001) basal planes are known as the c-planes, the  $\{01\overline{1}0\}$  as the m-planes, and the  $\{2\overline{1}\overline{1}0\}$  as the a-planes. For cross-sectional highresolution TEM imaging, the closest-packed plane available is usually one of the three prismatic  $\{01\overline{1}0\}$  planes. Figure 13a shows a projection of the [0001] axis with the  $\{1010\}$  family of planes labeled. Figure 13b shows the projection along the  $[10\overline{1}0]$  axis with orthogonal  $(1\overline{2}10)$  and (0001) planes labeled to serve as an orientation marker. Figure 13c is a projection of the [0001] axis with the  $\{2\overline{1}\overline{1}0\}$ planes labeled. Figure 13d is the projection along the  $[2\overline{1}\overline{1}0]$  axis with the orthogonal  $(01\overline{1}0)$  and (0001) planes labeled.



Fig. 13 Projections of a HCP crystal along a) the [0001] direction with the  $\{10\overline{1}0\}$  family of planes labeled, b)  $[10\overline{1}0]$ , c) [0001] with the  $\{2\overline{11}0\}$  planes labeled, and d)  $[2\overline{11}0]$  with the (0001) and (01\overline{10}) planes labeled

## 3. Important Example: GaN

GaN is a good, illustrative HCP crystal grown at ARL. GaN is polymorphic, with the two most-prevalent crystals shown in Fig. 14: a) 3C (cubic) and b) 2H (hexagonal).



Fig. 14 a) 3C GaN and b) 2H GaN

The FCC 3C-GaN structure is zinc-blende, meaning that the larger gallium (Ga) atom is at the origin and the smaller nitrogen (N) atom is located 1/4 of a body

diagonal from the origin. The 2H GaN base structure has a Ga atom at the origin [0,0,0] and another at  $[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}, \frac{1}{2}]$ . The N atoms at  $[0,0,\frac{3}{8}]$  and  $[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}, \frac{7}{8}]$  are directly over the Ga atoms, displaced by  $\frac{3}{8}$  of the c-dimension of the unit cell along the  $\vec{c}$  axis.

## 4. Diffraction Patterns

The ARM-200F at ARL typically operates at an acceleration voltage of 200 keV. This corresponds to a relativistic beam wavelength of 0.0251 Å (2.5 pm). The periodic crystal being examined acts as a diffraction grating. TEM diffraction patterns complement images in allowing full characterization of a crystal's morphology.

Figure 15 shows HCP diffraction patterns for the zone axes corresponding to a)  $[\overline{2}110]$ , b)  $[0\overline{1}10]$ , and c) [0001]. The simulated patterns were generated with the CrystalMaker software.



Fig. 15 HCP diffraction pattern for the (a)  $[\overline{2}110]$ , (b)  $[0\overline{1}10]$ , and (c) [0001] zone axes

## 5. Summary and Conclusions

This report thoroughly described the three- and four-index systems for HCP materials, with a comparison to the FCC material system.

It is important to avoid two frequent mistakes when using either the Miller or Miller–Bravais system. The first is using dot and cross product calculations on the Miller system for HCP materials, since the basal plane axes are not orthogonal. The other common error is using the same conversion relationship from three to four indices for both planes and directions. While one can easily drop the *I* index from a (*HKIL*) plane and convert it to an (*hkl*) plane, one must use the formulas in Eqs. 10 and 11 to convert [*HKIL*] directions to [*hkl*] directions. These sorts of errors, in addition to misrepresenting the crystal's structure, cause major problems when determining dislocation visibilities.

While it may seem that one should just use the Miller–Bravais system for ease of describing symmetry, and so on, a basic familiarity with the Miller system for HCP materials is necessary. The Miller–Bravais system is not completely conventional internationally, and some journals exclusively use the Miller system. Software packages for crystal simulation sometimes only use the Miller system. CrystalMaker understands and interprets the Miller–Bravais system, but other software packages do not. Furthermore, there are numerous online calculators for determining angles between planes and directions, or lattice spacings, which rely on the Miller system. Therefore, it is critical that anyone studying the crystallography of HCP materials is literate in both the Miller and Miller–Bravais systems.

## 6. References

- Sarney WL. Understanding transmission electron microscopy diffraction patterns obtained from infrared semiconductor materials. Aberdeen Proving Ground (MD): Army Research Laboratory (US); 2003 Dec. Report No.: ARL-TR-3128.
- 2. Momma K, Izumi F. VESTA 3 for three-dimensional visualization of crystal, volumetric and morphology data. J Appl Crystallogr. 2011;44:1272–1276.
- Sarney WL. Sample preparation procedure for TEM imaging of semiconductor materials. Aberdeen Proving Ground (MD): Army Research Laboratory (US); 2004. Report No.: ARL-TR-3223.

## List of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms

ARL	Army Research Laboratory
DEVCOM	US Army Combat Capabilities Development Command
FCC	face-centered cubic
Ga	gallium
GaN	gallium nitride
НСР	hexagonal close-packed
III-N	III-Nitride; alloy consisting of one or more group III elements and nitrogen
III-V	alloy consisting of one or more group III elements and one or more group V elements
Ν	nitrogen
SiC	silicon carbide
TEM	transmission electron microscopy

- 1 DEFENSE TECHNICAL
- (PDF) INFORMATION CTR DTIC OCA
  - 1 DEVCOM ARL
- (PDF) FCDD RLD DCI TECH LIB
- 1 UNIV OF MD
- (PDF) MTRL SCI & ENGRG JEONG H KIM ENGRG BLDG L SALAMANCE-RIBA

3 DEVCOM ARL

(PDF) FCDD RLS CC A LEFF FCDD RLS EE M REED W SARNEY